#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

#### STATE OF NEVADA

TITLEMAX OF NEVADA, INC., A NEVADA CORPORATION,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY, FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS DIVISION,

Respondent.

Supreme Court No. Electronically Filed Aug 02 2016 03:44 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman District Court Case No.: Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from Eighth Judicial District Court, State of Nevada, County of Clark
The Honorable Valerie Adair, District Judge

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Patrick J. Reilly, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 6103
Nicole E. Lovelock, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 11187
HOLLAND & HART LLP
9555 Hillwood Drive, Second Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134
Tel: (702) 669-4600

#### INTRODUCTION

The issue of this appeal is simple. Appellant TitleMax of Nevada, Inc. d/b/a TitleMax and TitleBucks (collectively "TitleMax") and Respondent the State of Nevada, Department of Business and Industry, Financial Institutions Division ("FID") disagree over the interpretation of Nevada Revised Statutes ("NRS") 604A.210, NRS 604A.445, and Nevada Administrative Code ("NAC") 604A.230. To obtain a resolution on the good faith dispute over the interpretation of law, TitleMax filed an action for declaratory relief in the lower court. Specifically, TitleMax sought a legal determination as to:

- (i) The meaning of "additional interest" in grace periods for the purposes of NRS 604A.210 and NRS 604A.445; and
- (ii) Whether Nevada Administrative Code ("NAC") 604A.230 prohibits a licensee from accepting a co-borrower on a title loan where that co-borrower does not appear on the title of the vehicle associated with said loan.

Neither legal question required any factual determination. Each determination was purely a question of statutory or regulatory interpretation.

Despite the straightforward legal issues, the FID moved to dismiss the declaratory relief action, arguing that the lower court lacked jurisdiction based upon TitleMax's failure to exhaust administrative remedies. The lower court

agreed, and the ruling was clear error. Two recognized exceptions to the administration exhaustion doctrine applied under Nevada law—when a party seeks an interpretation of a statute and when resort to administrative remedies would be futile. Thus, the dismissal of the action based upon TitleMax's failure to exhaust administrative remedies must be reversed.

#### **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This matter falls under the jurisdiction of the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to Rule 3A(b)(1) the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure ("NRAP"). The Notice of Entry of the Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Exhaust Administrative Remedies and Order Denying TitleMax's Motion for Summary Judgment (the "Order") is dated February 3, 2016. Joint Appendix ("JA"), Volume III at 522 – 523. The Notice of Appeal was filed on February 12, 2016. JA, Vol. III at 529 – 538.

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This matter involves the interpretation of NAC 604A.230, NRS 604A.210 and 604A.445 and is presumptively reviewable by the Nevada Supreme Court under Rule 17(a)(14) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure ("NRAP").

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did the lower court have jurisdiction to interpret whether NAC 604A.230 bars a licensee from accepting a co-borrower on a title loan where that

co-borrower does not appear on the title to the vehicle?

- 2. Did the lower court have jurisdiction to interpret whether NRS 604A.210 or NRS 604A.445 bar a licensee from charging any interest whatsoever as a result of entering into a grace period with a customer?
- 3. Whether the District Court erred by failing to apply the futility exception to the administrative exhaustion doctrine.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The FID examined TitleMax in 2014 and 2015. In the FID's Reports of Examination, the FID concluded that TitleMax had violated NRS 604A.210, NRS 604A.445, and NAC 604A.230. JA, Vol. I at 37 and 63. There was no factual dispute as to the business practices in question. Rather, the dispute between the parties turned solely on their respective interpretations of the foregoing rules.

There is no administrative remedy under NRS Chapter 604A or NRS Chapter 233B to challenge findings and conclusions contained in an FID Report of Examination. Therefore, to obtain a resolution on the good faith dispute over the interpretation of law, TitleMax filed a declaratory relief action in the lower court seeking a legal determination as to: (i) whether NAC 604A.230 prohibits a licensee from accepting a co-borrower on a title loan where that co-borrower does not appear on the title of the vehicle associated with said loan; and (ii) whether NRS 604A.210 and NRS 604A.445 bar a licensee from charging any interest whatsoever

as a result of entering into a grace period with a customer. JA, Vol. I at 1-5. Neither legal question required any factual determination.

Despite the straightforward legal issues, the FID claimed for the first time that the dispute between the parties required a factual determination, and that the lower court lacked jurisdiction based upon TitleMax's failure to exhaust administrative remedies. The lower court agreed and dismissed the case, concluding that that there were "questions of fact as to what the differences are between a co-borrower and a guarantor" and a "question of fact as to the implementation of these grace periods and whether the total interest charged during the grace period . . . exceeds the amount of allowable interest under NRS 604A.445." JA, Vol. III at 523. The lower court offered no other explanation for its ruling, completely ignored *Malecon Tobacco* in making its ruling, and failed to consider the well-recognized futility doctrine in cases such as this. Accordingly, the lower court's dismissal should be reversed.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. Examinations of TitleMax and the Good Faith Dispute Over Interpretations of Law.

The FID is an agency of the State of Nevada with regulatory authority over loans made pursuant to NRS Chapter 604A. *See generally* NRS 604A.400 *et seq.* TitleMax is a lender licensed pursuant to NRS Chapter 604A and is a "licensee"

within the meaning of NRS 604A.075. JA, Vol. II at 247. TitleMax offers title loans to its borrowers, which are governed by NRS Chapter 604A and are regulated by the FID and its Commissioner. *Id*.

The current dispute results from the FID's examination of TitleMax in 2014. In 2014, the FID conducted an examination of TitleMax and issued reports of examination (collectively the "2014 ROEs") covering statutory and regulatory compliance at TitleMax's various retail stores located in the State of Nevada. JA, Vol. I at 37. In the 2014 ROEs, the FID stated that TitleMax was in violation of NRS 604A.210, NRS 604A.445, and NAC 604A.230. *Id.* Specifically:

- The FID concluded that TitleMax's acceptance of a co-borrower on certain title loans violated NAC 604A.230, even though NAC 604A.230 only prohibits a licensee from accepting a guarantor on a title loan.
- The FID concluded that TitleMax's Grace Period Deferment Agreement violated NRS 604A.210 and NRS 604A.445 because the grace period resulted in the accrual of interest in that exceeded the amount of interest as disclosed in the original loan agreement.

Notably, the FID's legal position concerning grace periods in 2014 ROEs tracked precisely with a regulation the FID had previously proposed—<u>but did not adopt</u>—in 2012.<sup>1</sup> Based upon the examiner's incorrect application of NRS

See http://fid.nv.gov/Opinion/Proposed Regulations (Notice of

604A.210, NRS 604A.445, and NAC 604A.230, the FID issued a "Needs Improvement" rating, thereby indicating that TitleMax had demonstrated less than satisfactory compliance in the examination. JA, Vol. I at 37.

While there was no dispute as to TitleMax's practices that resulted in the rating, there was a dispute as to whether these practices constituted violations of law based upon the parties' differing interpretations of NRS 604A.210, NRS 604A.445, and NAC 604A.230. JA, Vol. II at 322-328. Thus, because the dispute between the FID and TitleMax was solely legal and turned on the statutory interpretation of the applicable law, and because NRS Chapter 604A and NRS Chapter 233B offer no administrative procedure for challenging an FID Report of Examination,<sup>2</sup> TitleMax filed the lower court action to obtain guidance as to the interpretation of these rules.

# II. TitleMax's Only Recourse to Challenge the FID's Interpretation of Law was to Seek Declaratory Relief in the District Court.

The FID concluded in the 2014 ROEs that TitleMax violated NRS 604A.210 and NRS 604A.445 when it entered into a certain Grace Period Deferment

Workshop/Hearing 604A) (Sept. 21, 2012), at Exhibit D (proposing that a grace period could not "exceed the amount of accrued interest and fees as disclosed in the loan agreement" and that "no interest shall accrue and no fees shall be charged after expiration of the loan period.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> NRS Chapter 233B only allows for review of a "contested case," which is defined as "a proceeding, including but not restricted to rate making and licensing, in which the legal rights, duties or privileges of a party are required by law to be determined by an agency after an opportunity for hearing, or in which an administrative penalty may be imposed." NRS 233B.032.

Agreement (the "GDPA") with its customers. JA, Vol. I at 1 - 5. There is no dispute that TitleMax offered a GPDA to its customers, entered into this agreement with certain customers who elected to do so, and followed the terms of said agreement. JA, Vol. I at 37 – 39. Yet, TitleMax disputed the FID's interpretation of NRS 604A.210 and NRS 604A.445 and that those statutes prohibited such a practice.

Next, the FID claimed that TitleMax violated NAC 604A.230 whenever a co-borrower on a title loan was not on the title of the vehicle that secured the loan. JA, Vol. I at 3. There is no dispute that TitleMax did allow customers to be a co-borrower on a title loan when the co-borrower was not on the title. JA, Vol. II at 231 - 253. Yet, TitleMax disputed the FID's interpretation of NAC 604A.230 and that the regulation prohibited such a practice.

Without any administrative recourse to dispute the FID's legal interpretation of NRS 604A.210, NRS 604A.445, and NAC 604A.230, TitleMax filed a Complaint in the District Court that only sought declaratory relief. JA, Vol. I at 1 – 5. Specifically, TitleMax sought: (i) "a declaration that an individual may be a co-borrower on a title loan without violating NAC 604A.230 when said individual is not listed on title of the vehicle associated with said loan"; and (ii) "a declaration that the [Grace Period] Deferment Agreement does not violate NRS 604A.210 or NRS 604A.445." JA, Vol. I at 4.

# III. TitleMax's Undisputed Business Practices and the FID's Erroneous Interpretation.

TitleMax and the FID disagree about the interpretation of NRS 604A.210, NRS 604A.445, and NAC 604A.230. These laws govern automobile title loans. The FID maintains that NAC 604A.230 bars TitleMax from having a co-borrower on a title loan, even though the rule says nothing of co-borrowers. Furthermore, the FID posits that NRS 604A.210 prohibits TitleMax from charging **any** interest during or as a result of a grace period, contrary to the statute and its legislative history, as opposed to **additional** interest, and that TitleMax's grace period renders the term of its title loans impermissibly long.

#### A. The Alleged Violations of NAC 604A.230.

TitleMax allowed co-borrowers to be on a title loan. The FID alleged that TitleMax violated NAC 604A.230(1)(a) anytime a co-borrower was not listed on title of the vehicle associated with said loan.<sup>3</sup> JA, Vol. II at 234. TitleMax never disputed that it did allow customers to be a co-borrower on a title loan when the co-borrower was not on the title. JA, Vol. II at 231 - 253. Rather, TitleMax disputed that this practice violated NAC 604A.230(1)(a).

The regulation at issue states simply that:

#### 1. A licensee shall not:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> TitleMax offered this option for customers

(a) Require or accept a *guarantor* to a transaction entered into with a customer.

NAC 604A.230(1)(a) (emphasis added). Thus, by its plain terms, NAC 604A.230(1)(a) has no application whatsoever to co-borrowers.

It is a basic tenet of statutory interpretation that an unambiguous provision must be interpreted according to its plain meaning. See, e.g., We The People Nev. ex rel. Angle v. Miller, 124 Nev. 874, 881, 192 P.3d 1166, 1170 (2008) (explaining that this court interprets unambiguous language "in accordance with its plain meaning"); State Dep't of Ins. v. Humana Health, Ins., 112 Nev. 356, 360 (1999). It is clear that NAC 604A.230 only prohibits "a guarantor" from guaranteeing a title loan. The FID cannot add a separate or additional meaning to this plain and clear regulation. Indeed, when interpreting the plain language of a statute or regulation, Nevada courts "presume that the Legislature intended to use words in their usual and natural meaning." McGrath v. Dep't of Public Safety, 123 Nev. 120, 123, 159 P.3d 239, 241 (2007). Thus, the existence of a co-borrower cannot trigger a violation of NAC 604A.230(1)(a).

#### B. The Alleged Violations of NRS 604A.210 and NRS 604A.445.

TitleMax offered a 210-day installment loan product, which the FID agreed complied with the applicable statutes and regulations. JA, Vol. I at 37. At the time of making the title loan, TitleMax unilaterally offered each borrower under the installment loan a grace period of deferment gratuitously (without additional

charge) pursuant to the terms of a GPDA. *Id.* The GPDA was a form agreement and could not be altered from customer to customer. Thus, the GPDA speaks for itself.

TitleMax had a policy of working with borrowers and giving them flexibility to fulfill their contractual obligations and avoid defaults. JA, Vol. I at 38. Indeed, TitleMax's goal is for each customer to repay the loan, not for TitleMax to recover any motor vehicle. *Id.* As such, TitleMax adopted a policy that allowed borrowers a grace period without additional charge. *Id.* There were no additional charges or increased interest; rather, the customer merely had to pay the original interest rate agreed upon. *Id.* The GPDA provided:

Consideration. You acknowledge and agree that you and we entered into a Title Loan Agreement on ("Loan Agreement."). Under the Title Loan Agreement, we agreed with you that we may subsequently offer you a "Grace Period" which is a gratuitous period of payments deferment. You agree that we are offering you a "Grace Period" and you are voluntarily accepting such offer after entering into a Loan Agreement pursuant to the provisions of NRS 604A.70 and NRS 604A.210. Please note that since this is a "Grace Period" it is not an "extension" as defined in NRS. 604A.065. Under the Title Loan Agreement, your obligation to pay simple interest under the Loan Agreement remains unchanged. Other than the interest and fees originally provided for in the Title Loan Agreement, we do not charge you any additional fees or interest for entering into this Grace Period Payments Deferment Agreement.

JA, Vol. I at 41 (emphasis added). Under the GPDA, a borrower could, and had

the right to, prepay without penalty.

In addition, the GPDA obtained each borrower's written acknowledgement and agreement that simple interest would continue to accrue as set forth in the loan agreement. JA, Vol. I at 41 - 43. Specifically, it provided:

Acknowledgment of Simple Interest Accrual. You acknowledge that we use the simple interest method to calculate and accrue the interest owing under the Loan Agreement. Interest is not compounded under the Loan Agreement. You acknowledge that simple interest is charged on the outstanding principal balance. Payments will be applied first to accrued interest, second to outstanding charges, if any, and third to principal. calculated and estimated the simple interest under the Loan Agreement and disclosed in the "Finance Charge" disclosure assuming you would pay each scheduled payment in the amount scheduled and on the scheduled Payment Dates. The original Payment Schedule in the Loan Agreement provided for payments which would ratably and fully amortize the entire Principal Amount and interest payable. The interest rate under the Loan Agreement remains unchanged. You acknowledge that simple interest is charged on the unpaid principal balance of this Loan Agreement at the daily rate of from the date of this Loan Agreement until the earlier of: (i) the due date of your last payment as set forth in the original Payment Schedule; or (ii) payment in full. Now that the Payment Schedule has changed, you acknowledge that the new Payment Schedule provided for in this Grace Period Payments Deferment Agreement, if followed, will ratably and fully amortize the entire Principal Amount and interest payable over a longer period of time than the original Payment Schedule in the Loan Agreement. As such you acknowledge and agree you will continue to incur interest as provided in the Loan Agreement. further agree that in setting the amount of the payments

and dates of the payments, we have estimated the accrued interest owing to us assuming you make the payments in the amounts scheduled and on the exact dates set forth in the Grace Periods Payments Deferment Schedule above. Early payments may decrease the amount of interest you owe. Making a payment in an amount greater than scheduled above may decrease the amount of interest you owe. Late payments may increase the amount of interest you owe. Late payments may increase the amount of interest you owe. The amount of this increase or decrease will be reflected in the final payment. If an early payment is less than the scheduled installment, then you must pay the difference on or before the upcoming installment due date. You may request a payoff at any time (emphasis added).

JA, Vol. I at 43 (emphasis added). Interest was not charged during the grace period. *Id.* at 41-42 (*see* payment schedule in which no interest is charged during payments 8-14).

Even though the law did not require a grace period, TitleMax offered a grace period after loan origination for a variety of reasons. The "grace period" allowed borrowers the opportunity to elect to reduce their monthly obligations and to make informed decisions about their cash flow throughout the loan process. JA, Vol. II at 248. Indeed, one of the benefits a borrower received in entering into a GPDA was that their monthly payment was lower than originally scheduled under the Loan Agreement. *Id.* While paying down debt has its benefits, it is equally important for many borrowers to reduce monthly payment obligations and have flexibility in payments. *Id.* Thus, many of TitleMax's borrowers viewed the reduction in the monthly payment and resulting "cash flow cushion or margin"

created thereby, as not only a valuable option, but also a benefit not afforded by others in the market. *Id*.

TitleMax only made the GPDA available to those borrowers who elected such an option that were not currently in default. JA, Vol. II at 249. TitleMax did not seek to change the terms of the original loan, did not impose charges for offering the grace period, did not impose "additional" interest, and did not exact other concessions, as a traditional lender might when offering to refinance a loan. *Id.* Borrowers could also make their payments as originally scheduled, even though they entered into a GPDA. *Id.* TitleMax charged no type of prepayment penalty for borrowers desiring to pay off early and save interest. *Id.* Likewise, borrowers always maintained the right to make payments under a repayment plan under NRS 604A.475. TitleMax fully complied with NRS 604A.475 for those customers requesting a repayment plan after default.

The FID has taken the position that a licensee is prohibited from charging any interest whatsoever as a result of a grace period. The FID's position is not supported by law. The alleged statute violated, NRS 604A.210, provides:

The provisions of this chapter do not prohibit a licensee from offering a customer a grace period on the repayment of a loan or an extension of a loan, except that the licensee shall not charge the customer:

- 1. Any fees for granting such a grace period; or
- 2. Any additional fees or additional interest on the outstanding loan during such a grace period.

NRS 604A.210. To support its interpretation that NRS 604A.210(2) prohibits the accrual of any interest on the outstanding loan during a grace period, the FID must completely strike the word "additional" from the statute. Yet, the FID does not have the power to unilaterally rewrite a statute.

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