IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TITLEMAX OF NEVADA, INC. and TITLEBUCKS d/b/a TITLEMAX, a Nevada corporation.

Appellant(s),

v.

STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS DIVISION,

Respondent(s).

Case No. 69807 Jan 17 2017 11:26 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown

District Court No. A-16-743134-9

Electronically Filed

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

ADAM PAUL LAXALT
Attorney General
WILLIAM McKEAN (Bar. No. 6740)
Chief Deputy Attorney General
DAVID J. POPE (Bar. No. 8617)
Senior Deputy Attorney General
State of Nevada
Office of the Attorney General
555 E. Washington Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
(702) 486-3426 (phone)
(702) 486-3416 (fax)

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

facts and the court stated as much.²⁹ (JA 0510-0514; JA 0520).

TitleMax is still attempting to disguise the factual issues as questions of law. NRS 604A.210 allows grace periods to be granted but prohibits the charging of additional fees or interest. By definition, no grace period is granted if additional interest is charged.³⁰ TitleMax creatively argues that it grants a grace period because it merely charges the same rate of interest that the customer originally agreed to pay. In application, the facts reveal that applying the same rate of interest to the entire principal for seven months, rather than amortizing, results in

²⁹ Baldonado v. Wynn Las Vegas, LLC, 124 Nev. 951, 965, 194 P.3d 96 (2008) (explaining that the appellants requested the court to interpret statutory language and apply its interpretation to the existing business practice and to grant injunctive relief and therefore appellants sought more than a mere determination of the meaning of the statute under NRS 30.100. In the case at hand, TitleMax similarly requested the court to interpret statutory language, apply its interpretation to the existing business practice and grant injunctive relief because an administrative remedy was also provided by statute, Baldonado could not get declaratory relief nor can TitleMax.).

³⁰ NRS 604A.070 (defining "grace period" as "any period of deferment offered gratuitously").

additional interest being charged in violation of NRS 604A.210 and NRS 604A.445.31

Pursuant to NRS 604A.070, the term "grace period" is defined as "any period of <u>deferment</u> offered <u>gratuitously</u> by a licensee to a customer if the licensee complies with the provisions of NRS 604A.210." (emphasis added). Because the GPPDAs charge interest on the entire original outstanding principle for seven months, rather than a decreasing principle, additional interest is charged. Because additional interest is charged and a payment is due in every period of the extended payment schedule, there is no deferment.³² In addition, because TitleMax charges more interest through the GPPDA than through the original 210-day loan, the extended repayment schedule offered through

³¹ Whether charged during, or for the granting of, a grace period, it's an additional charge because it's more than the 210 days of interest allowed by NRS 604A.445 and NRS 604A.210.

³² Black's Law Dictionary, 421 (6th Ed. 1990) ("Deferment" is defined as, "[a] postponement or extension to a later time" "Defer" is defined as "[d]elay; put off; . . . postpone to a future time.").

the GPPDA is not free of cost, and therefore is not gratuitous.³³ These are factual determinations, not questions of law.

No matter how it's spun, charging more interest simply doesn't comply with the statutory definition of a grace period.³⁴ In addition, the term "grace period" has been defined elsewhere as "[a] period of extra time allowed for taking some required action (such as making payment) without incurring the usual penalty for being late.³⁵ There is no question as to the meaning of "grace period", it simply is a period of time following a payment due date during which no interest accrues. Based on the facts presented at the hearing, the ALJ agreed that there is no grace period experienced when an original 210 day loan is

³³ Webster's II New College Dictionary, 486 (1999) (defining "gratuitous" as "[g]iven or received without cost or obligation: FREE.").

³⁴ Contrary to TitleMax's assertions, charging and collecting more interest constitutes an additional charge. *See Appellant's Opening Brief*, pp. 9-10.

³⁵ Black's Law Dictionary, 717 (8th Ed. 1999).

³⁶ TitleMax asserts that "[i]nterest was not charged during the grace period", which it claims is payments 8-14, even though the agreement is called a Grace Period Payment Deferment Agreement. Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 12. Even if the additional interest charged during payments 2-7 is an additional fee obtained for the granting of seven months of extension of the payment of principal, it still violates NRS 604A.210. Id.

amended to become a GPPDA.³⁷ The ALJ properly determined that the GPPDAs are loan extensions in violation of NRS 604A.445(3)(c).³⁸

Because the GPPDA is a loan extension in violation of NRS 604A.445(3)(c), TitleMax's asserted dispute regarding the meaning of "additional interest" is really a red herring. Consequently, the commencement of this case really was creative piecemeal litigation.

With regard to the issue involving additional persons being allowed as parties to the title loans, the factual questions included whether the additional persons were actually borrowers³⁹ (and therefore potentially co-borrowers), guarantors or simply needed for purposes of meeting the ability to repay requirements set forth in NRS 604A.450(2). In addition, it was unknown whether the additional persons were legal owners of the vehicles and such facts could be provided through an administrative hearing. The ALJ decided this issue in favor of

³⁷ Motion to Dismiss Appeal, Exhibit A, p. 10-11.

 $^{^{38}}$ *Id*.

³⁹ NRS 604A.040; NRS 604A.105.

TitleMax and therefore TitleMax was afforded relief and this issue is resolved because FID did not cross-appeal.⁴⁰

The District Court saw through the shell game and properly dismissed this case and let the matter proceed through the administrative process. If allowed to avoid an administrative hearing, TitleMax would have avoided the facts as determined by the examiner and found by the ALJ through the administrative hearing. Proceeding properly through an administrative hearing and then a petition for judicial review, these same facts are to be given deference pursuant to NRS 233B.135 and related case law.⁴¹

⁴⁰ Motion to Dismiss Appeal, Exhibit. A, p. 12-13.

⁴¹ See United Exposition Services, Co. v. State Industrial Insurance System, 109 Nev. 421, 423, 851 P.2d 423, 423-424 (1993) ("It is well recognized that this court, in reviewing an administrative agency decision, will not substitute its judgment of the evidence for that of the administrative agency." (citation omitted)); See Clements v. Airport Authority of Washoe County, 111 Nev. 717, 722, 896 P.2d 458, 461 (1995). ("Although a reviewing court may decide pure legal questions without deference to an agency determination, an agency's conclusions of law which are closely related to the agency's view of the facts are entitled to deference and should not be disturbed if they are supported by substantial evidence." (citation omitted)).

The sort of piecemeal litigation pursued by TitleMax is not judicially economical and is disfavored.⁴² The District Court properly put an end to the piecemeal litigation. (JA 0522-0523).

b. <u>Due to the Existence of Factual Issues</u>, the Exception for <u>Seeking Pure Statutory Interpretation is not Applicable</u>

TitleMax asserts that it merely asked the district court to decide a pure question of law. Pure questions of statutory interpretation and constitutional questions can be exempt from the exhaustion requirement.⁴³ As previously explained above, TitleMax did not present the district court with a question of pure statutory interpretation. In addition, TitleMax did not seek relief on a constitutional question. Consequently, this exception does not apply.

Contrary to TitleMax's assertions, the *Malecon*, *NAS*⁴⁴ and *Check*City cases actually support the FID's position. *Malecon* sets forth two exceptions to the exhaustion requirement and stresses that fact-finding

⁴² Barbara Ann Hollier Trust v. Shack, 131 Nev. __, 356 P.3d 1085, 1090 (2015).

⁴³ Malecon, 118 Nev. 837, 839, 59 P.3d 474 (2002); Check City ("Check City"), 130 Nev. __, 337 P.3d 755, 758, n. 5 (2014).

⁴⁴ Financial Institutions Div. v. Nevada Association Services ("NAS"), 128 Nev. __, 294 P.3d 1223, 1228, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 34 (Nev. 2012).

is to be done through the administrative proceedings.⁴⁵ Though *Malecon* and *Check City* both state that issues of pure statutory interpretation are an exception to the exhaustion requirement, they merely set forth the exception and the applicability of the exception is determined on a case-by-case basis.

In *Check City*, the issue was "whether NRS 604A.425 unambiguously states that the 25-percent cap includes both the principal amount borrowed and any interest or fees charged."⁴⁶ NRS 604A.425 states: "A licensee shall not . . . [m]ake a deferred deposit loan that exceeds 25 percent of the expected gross monthly income of the customer when the loan is made". This involved pure statutory interpretation because this Court analyzed the language of NRS 604A.425 and NRS 604A.050.⁴⁷ Unlike the case at hand, *Check City* was solely about the words in the statute.

^{45 118} Nev. 837, 839-842, 59 P.3d 474, 476-477 (2002).

⁴⁶ 130 Nev. __, 337 P.3d 755 (2014).

⁴⁷ Id. at 756-758.

In *Malecon*, the taxpayers were challenging the constitutionality of two statutes as applied to them.⁴⁸ The exception did not apply because this Court determined that the taxpayer's complaint alleged a factual issue.⁴⁹

In NAS,⁵⁰ this Court determined that FID did not have jurisdiction to issue the advisory opinion or take disciplinary action. Because FID did not have original jurisdiction as a matter of law, FID should not have issued the advisory opinion.⁵¹ There were no factual issues to consider in this regard, *i.e.* it was a question of law.⁵²

All three of the cases discussed above support the dismissal of this case. Considering the *Benson* decision, TitleMax is drawing at straws

⁴⁸ 118 Nev. 837, 841, 59 P.3d 474 (2002).

⁴⁹ *Id.* ("The constitutionality of the statutes challenged here, as applied, involves a factual evaluation, and this evaluation is best left to the Department of Taxation, which can utilize its specialized skill and knowledge to inquire into the facts of the case.").

⁵⁰ 128 Nev. ___, 294 P.3d 1223, 1227-1228 (2012).

⁵¹ See Sobol v. Capital Management Consultants, Inc., 102 Nev. 444, 446, 726 P.2d 335, 337 (1986) (providing, "acts committed without just cause which unreasonably interfere with a business or destroy its credit or profits, may do an irreparable injury and thus authorize issuance of an injunction." (citation omitted)).

⁵² Id.

and has no basis upon which to assert that any of these cases render the FID's position, or the lower court's dismissal order, anything but proper.

III. The District Court did not Ignore the Futility Exception to the Exhaustion Requirement.⁵³

This Court has stated that the futility exception applies when an agency "is statutorily precluded from granting a party any relief at all."54

The record on appeal indicates that an administrative complaint was issued, a hearing was noticed and the matter proceeded under the jurisdiction of an ALJ.⁵⁵ (JA 0367-0381; JA 0353-355). TitleMax had a multiple day hearing during which it had the opportunity to fully present all of its issues.⁵⁶ In addition, TitleMax was able to cross-examine the FID's witnesses and directly examine its own witnesses.⁵⁷ Following the hearing, TitleMax received a final decision reducing the requested fines from \$3,070,000 to \$307,000 with \$257,000 of the fine

⁵³ Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 20, 30.

⁵⁴ Benson, 131 Nev. __, 358 P.3d 221, 225 (2015).

⁵⁵ The jurisdiction of the Commissioner of the FID was delegated pursuant to NRS 233B.122(2-3).

⁵⁶ Motion to Dismiss Appeal, Exhibit A, p. 4-16.

⁵⁷ NRS 233B.123(4).

held in abeyance and \$50,000 due in 30 days.⁵⁸ In addition, the final decision determined that TitleMax could allow co-borrowers on title loans.⁵⁹ TitleMax simply cannot argue that this remedy did not provide "any relief at all," nor could it have successfully made such an argument to the lower court.⁶⁰

The administrative hearing actually provided TitleMax with the opportunity to obtain all the relief it was seeking, *i.e.* an interpretation of the statutes as applied to the facts related to the business practices. Consequently, the futility exception is not applicable.

In addition, TitleMax cites to State v. Scotsman Mfg. Co., 109 Nev. 252, 255, 849 P.2d 317, 319 (1993), Malecon, 118 Nev. 837, 839, 59 P.3d 474, 476 (2002) and Engelman v. Westergard, 98 Nev. 348, 647 P.2d 385 (1982). In Scotsman, this Court determined that it would have been futile to require Scotsman to submit administrative refund requests because the time for doing so had already passed and this Court had already determined, in a prior case, that the sales tax

⁵⁸ Motion to Dismiss Appeal, Exhibit A, pp. 15-16.

⁵⁹ Id., at p. 12-13.

⁶⁰ Benson, 131 Nev.__, 358 P.3d 221, 225 (2015).

assessment was unconstitutional and had granted a refund.⁶¹ The Scotsman decision states, "The statutory procedure offers Scotsman no relief at all given the three-year period of limitations invoked by the state" because the refund claims would have been time barred.⁶²

TitleMax cited to *Malecon* to cite to *Karches v. City of Cincinnati*, 526 N.E.2d 1350, 1355-56, 38 Ohio St.3d 12 (Ohio 1988), which is not a Nevada case, for the purpose of arguing that exhaustion is not required when "administrative remedies would be futile or unusually onerous." The administrative hearing is over and it was not "onerous or unusually expensive" as compared to what the Karches went through. To the extent the *Karches* decision indicates that exhaustion is not required when there is no administrative remedy available which can provide the relief sought, this Court has stated that the futility exception does not

^{61 109} Nev. 252, 255, 849 P.2d 317, 319-320 (1993).

 $^{^{62}}$ *Id*.

⁶³ Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 30-31.

⁶⁴ Karches, 526 N.E.2d 1350, 1355-57, 38 Ohio St.3d 12 (Ohio 1988).

apply just because the available remedy isn't the desired remedy.⁶⁵ In this case, the administrative hearing provided adequate relief⁶⁶ and the final decision can be reviewed by the district court.⁶⁷

In *Engelman*,⁶⁸ similar to *Scotsman*, Engelman had not received actual notice and the time for pursuing administrative remedies had passed.

obtain an injunction every time FID caused an NRS 604A.820 hearing to be noticed, no such hearings would ever occur and the statute would be rendered meaningless. The Legislature would not have enacted the statute if they didn't want it to be used. See Allstate Insurance Co. v. Thorpe, 123 Nev. 565, 572, 170 P.3d 989 (2007) (providing, "[i]t is not conceivable that the legislature would give its extensive time and attention to study, draft, meet, hear, discuss and pass this important piece of legislation were it not to serve a useful purpose.").

⁶⁶ Public Service Com'n of Nevada v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 107 Nev. 680, 685, 818 P.2d 396 (1991) (explaining that but for the need for extraordinary writ relief a petition for judicial review is an adequate remedy.).

⁶⁷ NRS 233B.135.

^{68 98} Nev. 348, 353, 647 P.2d 385 (1982).

The Nevada precedent⁶⁹ is the *Benson* case, which explains that the futility exception is applicable when the time limits for pursuing the administrative remedy have expired.⁷⁰ Because TitleMax has had an administrative hearing, this futility exception does not apply.

IV. The Motion to Dismiss was Procedurally Proper

Finally, exalting form over substance, TitleMax posits that the FID's motion to dismiss on grounds of ripeness and failure to exhaust administrative remedies was tainted by some procedural "defect." That FID styled its motion under Rule 12(b)(5) (failure to state a claim) as opposed to a motion under Rule 12(b)(1) (lack of subject matter jurisdiction) amounts to a distinction without a difference. In similar circumstances, federal courts easily recognize that even if improperly styled as a failure to state a claim, such a motion will be treated as brought as a Rule 12(b)(1) motion for lack of subject matter

⁶⁹ The rest of the cases cited by TitleMax relative to this issue are not Nevada cases. *Apellant's Opening Brief*, p. 31. Contrary to TitleMax's argument that there was certainty of an adverse decision, the ALJ was not part of FID and had not given any prior indication of what position she may have had with regard to the issues to be determined. *Id*.

⁷⁰ 131 Nev. __, 358 P.3d 221, 224-226 (2015).

jurisdiction.⁷¹ Here, moreover, there was no procedural "defect" in FID's styling its motion under Rule 12(b)(5).

Because TitleMax had not been aggrieved by a final agency decision, the matter was not ripe for review. Because the case was non-justiciable or not ripe, TitleMax could not state a claim upon which relief could be granted.⁷² Moreover, the District Court's dismissal can be affirmed even if it should have been based on NRCP 12(b)(1).⁷³ Consequently, the dismissal was procedurally proper.

CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons argued above, the dismissal order of the

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